No. 46654-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE PORT OF LONGVIEW, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

v.

ARROWOOD INDEMNITY COMPANY; MARINE INDEMNITY INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA;

Defendants,

and

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Assicurazioni Generali S.P.A., et al. ("LMI") ask this Court to review the unpublished Court of Appeals decisions described in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

The Court of Appeals filed its unpublished opinion on August 2, 2016. LMI moved to publish that opinion on August 15, 2016, and moved for reconsideration on August 22, 2016. The Court of Appeals denied both motions on December 21, 2016, but withdrew its earlier opinion and filed a revised unpublished opinion later that same day. The opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-54. The Court of Appeals order on publication and reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-55.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does an insured's 19-year-late notice of a claim for coverage of pollution damage to the property of a third party preclude coverage as a matter of law, when in the intervening years the insurer has been prejudiced by the loss of subrogation and contribution rights from the responsible polluters, the removal, alteration, or degradation of evidence, the loss of the ability to investigate the damage and the claim, and the death or unavailability of key witnesses that the insured admitted were the most knowledgeable?
- 2. In the alternative, if late notice prejudice does not exist as a matter of law, is a new trial warranted where the trial court improperly restricted the late notice prejudice evidence to

- only certain narrow facts, rather than allowing the jury to evaluate all evidence of prejudice/to the insurer?
- 3. Does the fortuity rule of insurance apply to preclude coverage under policies effective in the late 1970's and early 1980's where an insured purchased one property in 1999 knowing it was polluted, and presented no evidence to contradict substantial evidence that it knew another property was polluted before the policies were purchased?
- 4. Where an "occurrence" under the insurance policies at issue is an accident that is not expected or intended, did the Port meet its burden of showing coverage for an "occurrence" when it purchased property expecting and intending that the groundwater was already contaminated?
- 5. Where an insured must demonstrate that it did not expect or intend a "pollution event" [*i.e.* a discharge, dispersal, release, or escape of contaminants or pollutants to the environment], was it error to allow the jury to evaluate only whether the insured had knowledge that the pollution event caused property damage, rather than whether the insured expected open, obvious, and documented pollution events?
- 6. Was an insured entitled to recover fees for litigation relating to excess coverage under the *Olympic Steamship* exception to the American Rule on fees where the trial court concluded that notice was late as to the primary policies and was not determined as to the excess policies?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals opinion at 4-13 sets out the facts in this case and LMI believes that the Court has largely related the facts accurately.

It is important to note that when the Port chose voluntarily to forego any damages against LMI, op. at 13, no evidence was presented

regarding issues reserved for the Phase II damages trial, including whether notice to the excess insurers was late. CP 16582.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED²

The Court of Appeals' opinion undermines or outright contravenes fundamental issues of insurance law, meriting review by this Court. Despite the fact that the Court of Appeals chose not to publish its 54-page opinion, its impact will be felt far beyond the confines of this case.³ It sets entirely new standards on issues of extreme late notice, the known risk and fortuity principles, qualified pollution exclusions, and *Olympic Steamship* attorney fees. Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b).

(1) The Port Breached the Notice Conditions of Its Policies and LMI Was Prejudiced as a Result

¹ The trial court bifurcated the trial into two Phases, coverage/liability and damages. However, some of the trial court's decisions to defer issues to Phase II were confusing, including the decision to defer what is a coverage issue of late notice under the excess policies to the damages Phase II, which then never took place.

² This Court is fully familiar with the criteria for review in RAP 13.4(b) and LMI will not repeat those rules here.

³ As experienced appellate counsel, the undersigned are cognizant of the fact that petitions for review are more often successful if they involve one or two issues rather than a multiple of issues. For example, LMI is not asking for review of the trial court's decision that discovery sanctions against LMI should stand against LMI, even though the Port's egregious discovery misconduct resulted in a mistrial, obviating any prejudice to the Port from LMI's alleged discovery violations. Op. at 13-19.

Given its attention to such fundamental issues of insurance law and the extreme nature of its rulings, the Court of Appeals opinion will be cited by insurers and insureds, despite being unpublished. GR 14.1. LMI has focused on these broader issues, albeit more than one or two in number, for that reason.

The Port unquestionably breached one basic condition of any liability policy: bringing notice of the claim to the insurer "as quickly as possible" or "as soon as is practicable." The trial court here correctly found in its September 11, 2012 order that the Port was late in giving LMI notice of its claims both for the TPH and TWP sites in 2010, because, as of that date, the Port had been aware of potential pollution damages for 19 and 14 years, respectively. CP 5019, 18644. The court's initial late notice order applied to both the primary and excess policies, but the trial court later reversed and said that late notice as to the excess policies had to be tried in Phase II. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals concluded notice was late as to the primary policies, but concluded the 19-year late notice did not prejudice LMI as a matter of law. It also found that the jury's determination that LMI was not

⁴ The LMI policies allegedly provided that notice of an occurrence of any and all losses be given to the insurer "as quickly as possible" and "as soon as may be practicable." *See, e.g.,* CP 1496, 1499. "As soon as may be practicable" has a well-understood meaning in Washington – as soon as can reasonably be expected under the circumstances. *Thompson v. Grange Ins. Assoc.,* 34 Wn. App. 151, 163, 660 P.2d 307, *review denied,* 99 Wn.2d 1011 (1983); *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. v. Erickson,* 5 Wn. App. 688, 692, 491 P.2d 668 (1971). With respect to the excess policies, the Port was required to give notice when it had information that the excess policies would likely be implicated.

⁵ The trial court ruled as a matter of law, that the Port's notice "by whatever standard we use, amounts to late notice." CP 5019. The court also so instructed the jury in Instruction 10: "The Court has determined with regard to the TPH Site, that the Port's notice to London Market Insurers was late." CP 18644.

⁶ Again, Phase II (the damages Phase) was never tried because the Port waived its damages claims after Phase I.

prejudiced was sustainable, even though the jury was instructed to only consider limited facts regarding prejudice. These decisions contravene established principles of insurance law and also raise issues of first impression in Washington, meriting review.

(a) The Port's Late Notice to LMI Was Prejudicial As a Matter of Law

When an insured has a claim brought against it by another, the insured must timely tender that claim to his/her insurer to invoke coverage under a liability insurance policy. An insured's untimely tender of a claim to an insurer bars coverage under the policy when the insurer demonstrates actual and substantial prejudice occasioned by such late notice. While prejudice is ordinarily a fact question, *Staples v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn.2d 404, 419, 295 P.3d 201 (2013), in the environmental setting, late notice has been held to be prejudicial *as a matter of law*.

⁷ E.g., Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven, 97 Wn. App. 417, 983 P.2d 1155 (1999), as amended (Apr. 24, 2000), infra (summary judgment appropriate for insurer when insured waited seven years before notifying comprehensive general liability insurer). See also, Felice v. Saint Paul Fire & Marina Ins. Co., 42 Wn. App 352, 359-60, 711 P.2d 1066 (1986), review denied, 105 Wn.2d 1014 (1986) (attorney delayed 6 months after receiving malpractice action to notify insurer of claim); Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., 50 Wn.2d 443, 313 P.3d 347 (1957) (insured failed to forward summons and complaint to insurer for almost 14 months); Benham v. Wright, 94 Wn. App. 875, 881-82, 973 P.2d 1088 (1999) (insured in traffic collision failed to timely notify insurer and failed to ascertain with due diligence whether opposing party had been injured); Northwest Prosthetic & Orthotic Clinic, Inc. v. Centennial Ins. Co., 100 Wn. App. 546, 997 P.2d 972 (2000) (insurer was prejudiced as a matter of law by insured's violation of notice and cooperation clauses in policy where insured settled a debatable defamation claim before notifying the insurer of its existence, thereby foreclosing any real opportunity for the insurer to investigate it); Herman v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America, 104 Wn. App. 783, 17 P.3d 631 (2001) (insurer prejudiced as matter of

This Court has defined prejudice as "an identifiable and detrimental effect on [the insurer's] ability to defend its interests." *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins. Co.*, 164 Wn.2d 411, 430-31, 191 P.3d 866 (2008). The prejudice analysis looks to such factors as: Were damages concrete or nebulous? Was there a settlement or did a neutral decision maker calculate damages? What were the circumstances surrounding the settlement? Did a reliable entity do a thorough investigation of the incident? Could the insurer have eliminated liability if given timely notice? Could the insurer have proceeded differently in the litigation? *Id.* at 429-30.8

Notwithstanding this clear authority, the Court of Appeals refused to find prejudice to LMI as a matter of law, op. at 19-28, although such prejudice was plain and extreme – LMI's ability to investigate the claim was foreclosed by, *inter alia*: the deaths of key Port officials (the former

law by insured's breach of cooperation clause); Key Tronic Corp. v. Saint Paul Fire & Ins. Co., 134 Wn. App. 303, 139 P.3d 383 (2006), review denied, 160 Wn.2d 1011 (2007) (insurer prejudiced as matter of law where insured delayed notice to insurer for six months, disposed of evidence, and settled underlying claim); Tran v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 136 Wn.2d 214, 961 P.2d 358 (1998) (where there is a question of insured's fraud, insurer suffers prejudice as a matter of law where insured fails to provide financial records as required by policy's cooperation clause); Accord, Carl v. Oregon Auto. Ins. Co./N. Pac. Ins. Co., 918 P.2d 861 (Or. App. 1996) (notice was 1 year late).

⁸ In *Canron, Inc. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 82 Wn. App. 480, 486-92, 918 P.2d 937 (1996) the Court of Appeals observed that such factors as settlement of the underlying claim, and inhibitions on the insurer's conduct of a claim investigation, including changes in the accident scene, the preservation of evidence, the inability of experts to reconstruct the scene, or the loss of key documents or witnesses, were relevant to prejudice.

general manager and former director of engineering for the Port, who the Port conceded were the most knowledgeable regarding historical issues); the physical reconfiguration of the site in question; and by intervening legal proceedings that prejudiced LMI's ability to defend the claim.⁹

If the Port had timely notified LMI, it could have properly investigated and made an informed determination about whether they were obligated to defend the Port with regard to the contamination. This is the same kind of prejudice that constituted prejudice as a matter of law in *Carl*. For instance, with respect to the TPH site, LMI could have considered whether it needed to hire an expert to address missing information or conduct interviews with persons present during the 1991 Calloway-Ross tank decommissioning, the tanks decommissioned at the mechanics shop, and the subsequent investigations conducted over the past almost 2 decades. LMI could have conducted its own soil and groundwater sampling and undertaken their own evaluation of the pollution. Instead, LMI are forced to rely on the Port's very limited investigation of the claim conducted in 1991, testimony from the Port's environmental manager hired in 2010 who has little knowledge of events prior to her hire date, and the Port's speculative expert testimony on the timing and source of releases.

In addition to notifying LMI nearly two decades late, the Port did not even allow LMI to conduct an investigation of its claims prior to filing the lawsuit. Furthermore, if LMI had been timely notified of the Port's claims, it could have mitigated liability and expenses. If the Port had sought LMI's consent for the payments it made at the TPH site, it may not have entered into the cost sharing agreements with certain PLPs or settled its past costs with Chevron because of indemnity agreements in the Port's leases, events that

⁹ By the time LMI received belated notice of a claim from the Port as to the TPH site almost two decades after the contamination was initially discovered there: (1) a leaking Calloway-Ross underground storage tank was removed from this site, destroyed, and the tank pit backfilled, CP 21008; (2) two other tanks at the mechanics shop were removed along with impacted soils, id.; (3) key witnesses with critical information about the tank pull and potential contaminant sources, historic operations, contractual agreements with other potentially liable parties, indemnity agreements with tenants/potential PRPs, and information observed during site investigations are deceased, have become unavailable (such as Nate Davis (former owner of Calloway-Ross), Bob McNannay (former general manager, and Bob Foster (former director of engineering), CP 13530-31; RP 603, and other witnesses' memories have faded (for example Judy Grigg, the Port's environmental manager, testified numerous times that she could not remember critical events and details), RP 1189, 1195, 1212, 1217, 1221, 1539, 1575, 1578, 1580, 1585, 1595, 1596, 1598; (4) the Port assumed partial responsibility for the contamination and made voluntary payments at the TPH site, CP 10144-52; (5) the Port did not follow up with suits against real polluters such as Calloway-Ross, CP 17787; and (6) the Port foreclosed any opportunity to seek contribution at a future date under MTCA. LMI's ability to investigate and defend the Port at the TPH site was frustrated.

This Court has instructed that "extreme" late notice could potentially result in prejudice as a matter of law. *Staples*, 176 Wn.2d at 419. This case tests the applicability of that principle. Nineteen years' late notice is extreme. The Port does not dispute that it had known of a potential insurance claim for decades. It does not dispute that it intentionally bought polluted property that was subject to a consent decree for environmental cleanup, and made an insurance claim on that newly purchased liability 11 years later. The Port sought declaratory judgment that LMI's general comprehensive liability policies should pay for any future cleanup the Port might be asked to undertake.

The latest notice tendered in a Washington environmental insurance case was in *Leven*, and it was 7 years. The trial court granted

prejudiced LMI just as the insurers were prejudiced as a matter of law in *Sears* or *Key Tronic*. In addition, if LMI was timely notified of the Port's claims in 1991, LMI could have pursued the other PLPs who caused and contributed to the contamination at the TPH site in a MTCA contribution action when those claims were still fresh and evidence was not missing or stale. Such claims will be much more difficult to bring for the same reasons that the present action was greatly complicated by the passage of 19 years.

Likewise, at the TWP/MFA parcels, the Port admitted it knew they were polluted and that International Paper ("IP") had questioned whether the Port was a PLP as early as 1996. CP 3247. Even after the Port purchased the TWP and received a PLP later in 2005, LMI was unable to investigate DOE's allegations and defend them accordingly for another five years after that. CP 2718. Since the Port did not assert certain applicable defenses with regard to the PLP letter, such as the third party defense under RCW 70.105D.040(3)(a)(iii), its late notice has undermined LMIs' ability to mitigate the Port's liability. As a result, LMI was unable to control the defense. The deaths of witnesses prejudiced LMI because they had the best knowledge of the Port's expectation of polluting events and resulting property damage during the relevant time period, the 1960s and 1970s. CP 13530-31; RP 603.

summary judgment in favor of the insured on the duty to defend and indemnify. This Court reversed and entered summary judgment in favor of the insurer on the duty to defend, ¹⁰ concluding that the insurer was prejudiced as a matter of law solely based on the undisputed fact that the insurer lost the ability to litigate the insured's status as a potentially liable party. *Leven*, 97 Wn. App. at 430-31, 435.

The *extreme* late notice here was prejudicial to LMI as a matter of law. An insured cannot wait 19 years to make a claim and expect coverage. Review is merited to determine what constitutes extreme late notice as a matter of law. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).

(b) The Court of Appeals' Opinion, By Sanctioning the Trial Court, Improperly Circumscribes the Evidence of Prejudice an Insurer May Present

Even if the issue of prejudice to LMI from the Port's late notice was properly submitted to the jury, the trial court erred when it (1) limited the evidence it allowed LMI to present, and (2) improperly instructed the jury on the issue. The Court of Appeals ignored this Court's clear authority on this issue. Op. at 28-31.

The questions this Court has posed that are relevant to whether an insurer is prejudiced by an insured's late notice of a claim are *broad* in

-

 $^{^{10}}$ The insured's coverage claim for indemnification for remediation costs was also dismissed as a matter of law, but on different grounds.

their scope. *Mutual of Enumclaw*, 164 Wn.2d at 429-30. Yet despite the trial court's finding that the Port's notice was late as a matter of law, LMI was allowed *no late notice defense at all as to the TWP site*. CP 16865. In effect, although prejudice is supposedly a fact issue, as to this site, the trial court ruled on it as a *matter of law*. Regarding the TPH site, the court severely limited the evidence of prejudice LMI could present to the jury, and further restricted to the issues of: (1) the "alleged inability" to pursue polluter Calloway-Ross for contribution, and (2) whether LMI's ability to investigate the TPH site was impaired. Id. Incredibly, the Court of Appeals asserts in its opinion at 30 that LMI could have argued other evidence of prejudice despite Instruction 10's specific language as to what was proper evidence of prejudice to consider. The Court of Appeals'

No evidence was permitted at all on prejudice to LMI with respect to the TWP site, the preservation of evidence, the inability of experts to analyze the evidence, the loss of key documents or witnesses, or, of particular importance in this MTCA case, the increased difficulty in gathering evidence and witnesses relevant to policy defenses and/or to potential contribution action, which LMI will have to bring because the Port did not. The Court of Appeals claimed LMI's evidentiary argument was limited to "three sentences" in its briefing, and did not "show in the record that the trial court expressly limited the evidence it could present at trial." Op. at 28. This is simply inaccurate. *See* Br. of Appellants at 41-43; Reply Br. at 27-30.

The reference to "alleged" inability to pursue Calloway-Ross also misled the jury. Calloway-Ross dissolved as a corporation in 2005, five years before the Port gave notice. CP 17863. There is no dispute that it could no longer be pursued for contribution.

Despite the wording of the trial court's order, LMI was not allowed to argue that it was prejudiced by the voluntary payments the Port made under the Chevron agreement, the trial court eliminated that as a concern for the Port by ruling that those costs were not recoverable as damages. CP 5019, 16865.

position suggests that a jury instruction does not prejudice a party's case because the jury may have ignored the instruction.

In addition to the fact that LMI was barred from offering *any* evidence as to the TWP site, it was foreclosed from offering key documents and testimony as to prejudice at the TPH site.¹⁴

The court's Instruction 10 incorrectly apprised the jury of Washington law on prejudice, by artificially limiting the evidence that the

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