No. 94066-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE PORT OF LONGVIEW, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

v.

INTERESTED UNDERWRITERS AT LLOYD'S, LONDON, et al.,

Appellants,

and

ARROWOOD INDEMNITY COMPANY, MARINE INDEMNITY INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, INDEMNITY MARINE ASSURANCE COMPANY, LTD

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

The Nadler Law Group PLLC 720 3rd Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 621-1433

Mark S. Nadler, WSBA No. 18126 Liberty Waters, WSBA No. 37034 John S. Dolese, WSBA No. 18015, of Counsel

Attorneys for Port of Longview, Respondent

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

¹⁰ The trial court determined, based upon the evidence, including LMI's own expert's testimony, that this "plume defense" was never applicable to the Port. CP 5035-38. LMI did not appeal this order. App. Br. 2-3.

was not raised below and they fail to identify evidence that would support each element of that defense. LMI's arguments about deceased witnesses are also pure speculation. Even if those witnesses were knowledgeable about the site history or the cleanup, there is no evidence that their testimony could have supported any defense to the Port's liability or to coverage. The OPIN is consistent with prior decisions, and it should not be reviewed.

2. TPH Site

The fact that LMI sought dismissal of the TPH Site claims as *premature* belies their argument that this is an extreme case in which late notice prejudice should be found as a matter of law. Although the trial court found the Port's notice of its claims was late, the trial court did *not* determine when the Port should have provided notice and the trial court did *not* find that the Port's notice was *nineteen years late*. CP 5019. The trial court denied LMI's late notice motions with respect to the primary policies because there were disputed issues of fact as to whether LMI was actually and substantially prejudiced by the delayed notice. CP 8699-702, 16863-66. LMI's alleged prejudice from the Port's breach of the primary policies' notice provisions was then tried to a jury, and the jury

¹¹ As discussed above, LMI sought dismissal of the TPH Site claims based upon the Port's alleged lack of liability for that contamination. CP 11315-31, 12779-84, 6360-72, 7736-39. The Washington State Department of Ecology ("Ecology") did not issue a potentially liable person ("PLP") letter to the Port until May 11, 2016, *after the trial on the Port's coverage claims*.

¹² See Br. Resp't 24-27.

found in favor of the Port. CP 18651. The COA's refusal to review the denial of a pre-trial motion based upon disputed issues of fact when there was a subsequent trial on the merits, is consistent with this Court's decision in *Weiss*. 173 Wn.App. at 354.

Even if there had not been a subsequent jury trial, the COA's decision not to find prejudice as a matter of law is consistent with the Washington authority discussed above. LMI have not alleged that there was ever a defense to the Port's MTCA liability for the TPH Site, let alone one that they are now foreclosed from raising. Their alleged prejudice from an inability to investigate is also unsupported by the record, including their own witness' testimony. See Br. Resp't 43-45. This Court made it clear that an insurer cannot deny coverage every time an investigation is delayed. Staples, 176 Wn.2d at 420-21. LMI's claims regarding the alteration of the site (the ones that actually relate to the TPH site at all)¹³ relate only to the Calloway Ross UST. The timing of the insignificant release from this small UST is irrelevant to LMI's coverage defense for the substantial contamination from the Standard Oil and Longview Fibre pipelines and storage tank that was undisputedly released during the policy periods. 11/14/2013 RP 1513-17. Nor do LMI's complaints about deceased witnesses with unknown testimony rise to the level of actual and substantial prejudice as a matter of law. Canron, Inc. v.

¹³ LMI allege the Port removed two underground storage tanks "USTs" at its old mechanic shop, PFR 7 n.9, but these tanks are not a part of the TPH Site, so their removal could not prejudice LMI. *See* 11/12/2013 RP 1004-08.

Fed. Ins. Co., 82 Wn.App. 480, 491, 918 P.2d 937 (1996)(speculation insufficient); Mut. of Enumclaw v. USF Ins. Co., 164 Wn.2d 411.

The Port's payment of past costs or alleged inability to recover these costs cannot be prejudicial to LMI when LMI are not obligated to reimburse the Port for any such costs. Moreover, the only entity LMI identify as unavailable for contribution or subrogation claims is Calloway Ross, but they fail to demonstrate what additional costs Calloway Ross might be liable for, or that it had assets to pursue even in the 1990s. ¹⁴ This is not the type of "extreme case" discussed in the authorities LMI rely upon, and the COA's decision not to find prejudice as a matter of law on this record does not merit review.

B. The COA's Decision on LMI's Request for a New Trial on their Late Notice Defense Should Not be Reviewed

Again, LMI did not preserve this issue for appeal. As discussed above, LMI's failure to present sufficient evidence below to create a disputed issue of fact, and their failure to assign error to the trial court's orders granting the Port's summary judgment motions is fatal to their appeal with respect to the excess policy claims and the TWP Site claims under the primary policies. The COA's refusal to grant LMI a new trial on their late notice defense to these claims should not be reviewed.

¹⁴ Contrary to LMI's claim that they were forced to rely only on testimony from the Port's environmental manager hired in 2010 (PFR 7 n.9), the Port's environmental manager from 1991 to 2010 (Judy Grigg) was deposed by LMI and testified at trial. 11/13/2013 RP 1187; CP 13721. She testified that the reason the Port did not further pursue Calloway Ross was because "they just didn't have any money." CP 10170. The trial court found LMI's evidence of Calloway Ross' alleged insurance insufficient as a matter of law to establish that it ever had available coverage for this type of liability. CP 10170.

1. LMI failed to preserve their objections to the alleged exclusion of evidence

With respect to their late notice defense to the TPH Site claims under the primary policies, LMI failed to support their accusations of excluded evidence with citations to the record. Their general reference to the large volume of documents they unilaterally labeled as their "offer of proof" and failed to offer any foundation for is utterly insufficient. PFR 11. Documents LMI actually laid a foundation for were admitted, and they never offered any other documents at trial. Nor did they assign error to any ruling excluding that evidence. *See* Br. Resp't 27 n.22. Although the trial court allowed them to file the volumes of documents for the record, it admonished LMI that they would need to take additional steps to establish the documents (which neither the trial court nor Port counsel had reviewed) were actually excluded. 15 11/6/2013 RP 467-68. More importantly, LMI's claim that the trial court erred in evaluating LMI's preservation of the record is not a basis for review. RAP 13.4(b).

2. LMI failed to preserve their objections to the late notice jury instruction

As discussed in detail in The Port's prior briefing, LMI failed to preserve their objection to (and actually agreed to the proposed language

¹⁵ LMI's reliance upon the order denying their summary judgment motion is also misplaced because it determined there were disputed facts. It did not exclude evidence, it described the factual issue created by the evidence LMI presented, and the form of the order was proposed by LMI. CP 16865. LMI failed to assign error to the order on the parties' motions in limine that they raise for the first time in the PFR. App. Br. 2-3.

in) the trial court's jury instruction on late notice prejudice. ¹⁶ The trial court crafted this instruction after all evidence was presented. The categories identified in the instruction described evidence of prejudice that LMI actually presented at trial, ¹⁷ and as the COA recognized, the instruction did not preclude the jury from considering other factors (if it believed there was evidence of prejudice presented outside of the categories described). ¹⁸ The trial did not adopt either party's proposed instruction but combined language proposed by both LMI and the Port, and then **asked each party to make a record of their objections to that final instruction**. 11/19/2013 RP 1951-58, 2002. LMI failed to clarify at that time, ¹⁹ the points of law and reasons upon which they claimed the court was committing error with that instruction. ²⁰ 11/19/2013 RP 2007-08. Consistent with this Court's prior decisions, the COA determined that

¹⁶ Br. Resp't 51-52; Answer to Mot. for Recons. 15-17; 11/18/2013 RP 1944, 1946-1947; CP 5013-16, 16445, 16455, 16839, 18620, 18623, 18644.

¹⁷ Bombardi v. Pochel's Appliance & TV Co., 9 Wn.App. 797, 515 P.2d 540, modified on other grounds, 10 Wn.App. 243 (1973)(a party's theory of the case must be supported by substantial evidence before it may be argued to the jury).

¹⁸ The instruction indicated that the Jury *should* consider certain factors, not that they were only allowed to consider those factors. CP 18644. Counsel for LMI specifically agreed to this language. 11/19/2013 RP 1954-55.

¹⁹ LMI cite to a written objection raised in Reply Br. of Appellants that addressed completely different proposed instructions that were never given. PFR 12; CP 16840; *c.f.* CP 16455, 18644. This is insufficient to preserve their objection to the given instruction.

²⁰ Stewart v. State, 92 Wn.2d 285, 298, 597 P.2d 101 (1979), citing *Dravo Corp. v. L.W. Moses Co.*, 6 Wn.App. 74, 83, 492 P.2d 1058 (1971). When the objection does not apprise the trial judge of the theory and precise points of law involved, those points will not be considered on appeal. *Id.* at 298, citing *Haslund v. Seattle*, 86 Wn.2d 607, 614-15, 547 P.2d 1221 (1976).

LMI failed to preserve the issue for appeal.

C. LMI's Fortuity Argument Against Coverage for the TWP/MFA Site is Contrary to the Record and Unsupported by Authority

The Port agrees that an insured should not be allowed to knowingly acquire liability and then seek insurance coverage for that liability. But that is not what happened in this case.²¹ There are multiple parcels that makeup the TWP Site. The Port purchased the MFA parcels in the 1960s and the IP Plant parcel in 1999. It did not purchase the "TWP Site" in 1999. The Port sought coverage for the liability arising from its **ownership of the MFA parcels since the 1960s**.²² The trial court and the COA properly recognized that this liability extended to the entire TWP Site. CP 5038; OPIN 10; RCW 70.105D.040, 70.105D.020(8). Contrary to LMI's repeated, unsupported accusations, the Port did not knowingly acquire the liability for which it sought coverage in 1999. It unknowingly acquired that liability in the 1960s. Defs.' Exs. 13, 15. And it was still unaware of that liability when it purchased the LMI policies in the late 1970s and 1980s. 11/7/2013 RP 577-81, 636-37, 639; CP 18649-50.

²¹ LMI's entire known loss argument is void of any citations to the record and based entirely on their *ex cathedra* accusation that the Port acquired its TWP Site liabilities in 1999. LMI continue to ignore the evidence and legal authorities on which the trial court relied to determined as a matter of law that no defense to liability was available prior to the 1999 purchase, and that this purchase did *not* increase the Port's liabilities.

²² See Br. Resp't 4: Answer to Mot. for Recons. 13-15.

The OPIN is consistent with the known loss or fortuity doctrine.²³ Because this defense operates like an exclusion, the insurer has the burden of proving the insured subjectively knew of the loss or knew there was a substantial probability of the liability at the time the policy incepted in order to defeat coverage.²⁴ LMI's summary judgment motion seeking dismissal of the TWP/MFA Site claims based on their known loss argument (and the occurrence requirement in the policies)²⁵ was premised solely on the fact that the Port purchased the IP Plant area in 1999. LMI failed to present any evidence that this purchase increased the Port's existing liability from its ownership of the MFA area. The trial court denied LMI's motion and determined that the Port's liability by virtue of its ownership of the MFA area was unchanged by the 1999 acquisition of the Plant area. CP 5015, 5038. LMI did not raise their known loss defense at trial. Consistent with ALCOA, PUD, and all of the fortuity principles cited by LMI, the COA determined that LMI failed to prove, as a matter of law, that the Port knew there was a substantial probability of liability²⁶

²³ Newmont USA, Ltd. v. Am. Home Assurance Co., 795 F. Supp.2d 1150, 1162 (2011); PUD, 124 Wn.2d at 805; Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 529, 998 P.2d 856 (2000).

²⁴ Newmont, 795 F. Supp.2d at 1162-1163; PUD, 124 Wn.2d at 805.

²⁵ The evidence LMI provided to support both defenses was identical and proved only that the Port purchased the Plant area in 1999 under a purchase and sale agreement with IP. CP 1641-55.

²⁶ The MTCA liability at issue did not even exist when the Port purchased the policies in the 1970s and early 1980s, so that liability could not have been known.

from contamination on its MFA property prior to purchasing the policies.²⁷ OPIN 33; *Newmont*, 795 F.Supp.2d at 1162-63; *PUD*, 124 Wn.2d at 805; *ALCOA*, 142 Wn.2d 529. This decision does not merit review.

D. The COA's Decision on the Port's Occurrence Evidence is Consistent with Well Settled Precedent

For the same reasons discussed above, the COA's refusal to overturn the order denying LMI's pre-trial occurrence motion for the TWP/MFA Site claims need not be reviewed.²⁸ Moreover, it should not be reviewed because there was a subsequent trial on the disputed factual issue.²⁹ *Weiss*, 173 Wn.App. at 354. The COA reviewed the evidence the Port presented at trial and, consistent with prior decisions of this Court, determined that evidence to be sufficient to sustain the jury's verdict. OPIN 42; *Mut. of Enumclaw v. Gregg Roofing, Inc.*, 178 Wn.App. 702, 725-26, 315 P.3d 1143 (2013)(CR 50 motion can only be granted if there is no substantial evidence **or reasonable inference** to sustain the jury's verdict). LMI's allegations that the COA erred in finding substantial

²⁷ LMI also fail to cite to evidence supporting their claim that the Port increased its liability by purchasing the Plant area. The actual record establishes the opposite. The Port obtained an indemnity from IP, and IP has already completed construction of the remedial alternative required on that property by the consent decree. CP 2707.

²⁸ An insured must prove that it did not subjectively expect or intend the property damage prior to policy inception to meet the occurrence requirement. *Overton v. Consol. Ins. Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 417, 428, 38 P.3d 322 (2002). *Queen City Farms v. Cent. Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 126 Wn. 2d 50, 882 P.2d 703 (1994). The COA's decision to uphold the trial court order is consistent with this precedent.

²⁹ LMI did not file any pre-trial motions on the occurrence requirement for the TPH Site claims. Although LMI filed CR 50 motions with respect to both sites, LMI only address the TWP/MFA Site in the PFR.

evidence to support the jury's verdict, is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). Nor did the COA err. The Port presented direct evidence that the Port did not expect or intend groundwater contamination between 1980 and 1986, and evidence from which a reasonable inference could be drawn that the Port had no such expectations or intentions prior to 1980.³⁰

E. The COA's Decision on the Pollution Jury Instruction Is Consistent with Established Precedent

LMI mischaracterize the given jury instruction when they claim the trial court allowed the jury to evaluate only "whether the insured had knowledge that the pollution event caused property damage rather than whether the insured expected the open, obvious, and documented pollution events." PFR 2. Consistent with *Queen City Farms*,³¹ Jury Instruction No. 11 directed the jury to determine whether the Port proved it "did not expect or intend the *discharge or release* of contaminants into the groundwater." CP 18645(emphasis supplied). It did not instruct the jury to evaluate whether the Port knew of the resulting property damage. Further, LMI failed to preserve their objection to the actual jury instruction that was given at trial.

³⁰ See OPIN 37-42; Br. Resp't 19-20, 22, 36; Answer to Mot. for Recons. 14-15.

³¹ *Queen City Farms*, 126 Wn. 2d 50(when insured knowingly placed hazardous materials in lagoon thought to contain the material, the escape of material into groundwater was the polluting event that must not be expected or intended, not the initial placement as the insurers, including LMI, argued).

³² Similarly, the special verdict form asked the jury "Did the Port of Longview prove the Port did not expect or intend release to groundwater . . . prior to the Policy Period" CP 18650.

1. LMI failed to object to Instruction No. 11

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